Public Document Pack

RUSHMOOR BOROUGH COUNCIL

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

at the Council Offices, Farnborough on
Thursday, 9th November, 2023 at 7.00 pm

To:

Clir M.D. Smith (Chairman)
Clir Mrs. D.B. Bedford (Vice-Chairman)
Clir K. Dibble (Vice-Chairman)

Clir A. Adeola
Clir Gaynor Austin
CliIr Jessica Auton
Clir Jules Crossley

Cllr Mara Makunura
ClIr S.J. Masterson
ClIr Sophie Porter

ClIr S. Trussler

Standing Deputy
ClIr Abe Allen

ClIr Peter Cullum
Clir Nem Thapa
Clir Gareth Williams

Enquiries regarding this agenda should be referred to the Administrator, Adele
Taylor, Democratic Services, Tel. (01252) 398831, Email.
adele.taylor@rushmoor.gov.uk.




AGENDA
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING - (Pages 1 - 4)

To confirm the Minutes of the Meetings held on 7th September and 21st September,
2023 (copy attached).

CALL-IN - LAWN TENNIS ASSOCIATION (LTA) INVESTMENT INTO PUBLIC
TENNIS COURTS IN PARKS - (Pages 5 - 44)

In accordance with the provisions set out in the Overview and Scrutiny procedure
rules, a request has been received from the following Members to call-in the Cabinet
decision as set out in minute No. 32 from the Cabinet meeting on 17th October,
2023:

Clir Becky Williams
Clir Gareth Williams
ClIr Halleh Koohestani
Clir Abe Allen

ClIr Christine Guinness

Attached for information are:

e an extract of Minute No. 32 from the Cabinet meeting on 17th October,
2023;

e detailed reasons for the call-in; and,

o the Executive Head of Operations Report No. OS2314 that went to
Cabinet on 17th October, 2023

ARTS AND CULTURE (CULTURAL COMPACTS) -

To receive a presentation from Economy and Growth Service Manager, Lee
McQuade, on the work the Council is doing in collaboration with the Arts Council
England and other partners.

CLIMATE CHANGE - SCORECARDS -

To receive a presentation from Climate Change Officer, Sophie Rogers, on the
recently published Climate Change Scorecards.

The links below show score cards for all district Councils and an in depth look at
Rushmoor’s score card.

https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/scoring/district/
https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/councils/rushmoor-borough-council/

WORK PLAN - (Pages 45 - 56)

To consider the Work Plan for the 2023/24 Municipal Year (copy attached).


https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/scoring/district/
https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/councils/rushmoor-borough-council/

MEETING REPRESENTATION

Members of the public may ask to speak at the meeting on any of the items on the
agenda by writing to the Committee Administrator at the Council Offices,
Farnborough by 5.00 pm two working days prior to the meeting.

Applications for items to be considered for the next meeting must be received in
writing to the Committee Administrator fifteen working days prior to the meeting.




This page is intentionally left blank



14.

AGENDA ITEM No. 1

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

Meeting held on Thursday, 21st September, 2023 at the Council Offices,
Farnborough at 7.00 pm.

Voting Members
Clir M.D. Smith (Chairman)
Clir Mrs. D.B. Bedford (Vice-Chairman)
Clir K. Dibble (Vice-Chairman)

Clir Gaynor Austin
CliIr Jessica Auton
Clir Jules Crossley
Cllr Mara Makunura
Clir S.J. Masterson
Clir Sophie Porter
ClIr S. Trussler

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Clir A. Adeola.
Clir Nem Thapa attended the meeting as Standing Deputy.
COMMUNITY SAFETY AND POLICING

The Committee welcomed District Commander Gillian Cox, Hampshire Police and
David Lipscombe, Community Safety Manager, who were in attendance to update on
current issues across the Borough, and to address the matters in the Notice of
Motion on Youth Crime Prevention raised at the Council meeting in April, 2023,
which had been referred to the Committee for consideration.

The Committee received a presentation which covered, roles and responsibilities of
the Community Safety Team, data on the local police establishment and details of
their roles, the Community Safety Partnership and its strategic assessment and
partnership plan and current priorities for both the Community Safety Team and the
Police, including data on crime types related to young people.

Since Hampshire County Council (HCC) had removed funding for youth provision, it
was advised that some organisation had continued to operate, however no provision
had continued in Rushmoor. The Community Safety Partnership offered some
initiatives including Safer Streets, Think Safe, Choices and Fighting Chance. It was
also noted that the Council offered some provision for young people including,
Prospect Youth Club (Farnborough), Rushmoor Youth Influence and a Youth Café,
currently being developed in Aldershot, through the Community and Partnerships
Team.

The Committee discussed the presentation and raised a number of comments and
queries, including:

-17 -
Page 1



Police Community Support Offices (PCSO) — It was noted that changes were
anticipated for the role of the PCSO going forward. It was advised that there
was currently live recruitment for PCSOs, however potential applicants were
opting to apply to be Police Constables (PC) instead, and existing PCSOs and
call handlers were moving on to become PCs, resulting in a high turnover of
staff. The Committee noted that the issue was currently being looked into.

Reporting — following concerns raised by residents to Members relating to
reporting crime, not being able to get through on 101, and the general feeling
that some crimes weren’t followed up on by police, it was noted that the police
would always encourage reporting to help build a picture of patterns and
trends. Reporting through the online portal allowed for engagement with those
reporting. It was felt that better communication with the community, in
particular on positive outcomes, was something that should be developed
further.

CCTV - The Committee requested data on the impact of the move to
Runnymede of the CCTV operation.

Area Cars - it was noted that the proposal was for one area car per team (one
based in Rushmoor and one in Hart).

New Named Beat Officers — these officers would be deployed in certain areas
as a single point of contact for residents. It was note that the areas were yet to
be determined but Members would be updated once these were confirmed.
The appointment of named beat officers would assist with beat surgeries held
in local wards in conjunction with ward Councillors, promoting engagement
with residents.

Call Handling time data - A request was made for data on call handling and it
was advise that the SLA for 999 and 101 calls would be shared with the
Committee.

Choices — It was noted that the Choices initiative ran by the Violence
Reduction Unit (VRU) had had an impact in the schools that had engaged,
however the uptake was advised to be low in Rushmoor, and Members were
asked to encourage their local schools with Year 6 and 7 cohorts to consider
running the initiative with their pupils. The details would be circulated.

Aldershot Park — following an incident in Aldershot Park, earlier in the year,
when the ward had been identified as “an area of concern”, updated
information would be shared with Members which detailed “areas of concern”
to the VRU.

Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) — it was suggested that ASB figures seemed
comparatively high for the area that Rushmoor covered. It was noted that a
comparison would be made on the previous year’s figures and a report made
to the Committee. The Committee were advised that the current Strategic

-18 -

Page 2



15.

Assessment gave more information on ASB and crime data generally,
including comparisons with previous years.

e Traveler Community — during a discussion regarding land occupied at times
by the traveler community, it was noted that legislation sometimes prevented
the police from taking any action to remove camps and the ultimate
responsibility lay with the land owner.

e Community Safety Survey — it was advise that over 700 people had
responded to the survey, which had been the first of its kind. Respondents’
age would be looked at going forward and consideration would be given to
targeting the younger population, through engagement with schools and

colleges.

ACTIONS:

What Who When

Share CCTV data following move to | David Lipscombe — | October,

Runnymede Community Safety | 2023
Manager

Named Beat Officers — details to be | District Commander | November,

shared with Members once available | - Gillian Cox 2023

SLA data on 999 and 101 calls to be | District Commander | October,

shared — Gillian Cox 2023

Circulate information on the Choices | David Lipscombe - | October,

initiative to all Members Community Safety | 2023
Manager

VRU updated “areas of concern” | District Commander | October,

information to be shared with | — Gillian Cox 2023

Members

Comparative data on ASB figures to | District Commander | October,

be shared with Members — Gillian Cox 2023

The Chairman thanked District Commander Cox and Mr. Lipscombe for their reports

and contribution to the meeting.

WORK PLAN

The Committee noted the current Work Plan and arrangements for the next Progress

Group meeting.

The meeting closed at 9.29 pm.

CLLR M.D. SMITH (CHAIRMAN)

Page 3



Page 4

-20-



AGENDA ITEM No. 2

MINUTE EXTRACT -

LAWN TENNIS ASSOCIATION (LTA) INVESTMENT INTO PUBLIC TENNIS
COURTS IN PARKS -

CABINET, 17TH OCTOBER 2023

32. LAWN TENNIS ASSOCIATION (LTA) INVESTMENT INTO PUBLIC TENNIS
COURTS IN PARKS — (ClIr Maurice Sheehan, Operational Services Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet considered Report No. 0S2314, which set out the Lawn Tennis
Association’s (LTA) programme of investment into public tennis courts in parks.

In introducing the Report and the LTA’s proposals, the Operational Services Portfolio
Holder informed the Cabinet that a representation had been received from Clir Calum
Stewart that had not been included in the Report or appendices. Clir Stewart had
raised concerns over the affordability, particularly to families, of the proposed charging
structure. The Portfolio Holder also referred to photographs he had taken on Friday,
13th October to show the current condition of the tennis courts at Cove Green, Rectory
Road and Manor Park. These photographs were now published on the Council’s
website.

Members were informed that the proposed agreement would result in the LTA funding
renovation works to the value of £114,043 across the tennis courts at the above three
sites. The scheme would involve the Council appointing an operator to run the booking
system and other administration regarding the courts. Any surplus from the fees
collected would be held in a sinking fund for the future maintenance of the tennis
courts. The Report contained the full details of the LTA’s proposals. In discussing the
proposals, Members expressed concern that the fees should be set at as low as
possible, whilst still making the scheme and the future maintenance of the courts
viable. In that respect, it was decided to delegate the finalisation of the charging
structure to the Executive Head of Operations, in consultation with the Operational
Services Portfolio Holder.

The Cabinet expressed strong support for the scheme and considered that this would
provide residents with excellent facilities for playing tennis.

The Cabinet
(1) RESOLVED that:

(a) the LTA investment to renovate tennis courts at Manor Park, Cove Green
Recreation Ground and Rectory Road Recreation Ground, in accordance with
its investment in public tennis courts in parks scheme, as set out in Report No.
0S2314, be approved;

(b) the Executive Head of Operations, in consultation with the Corporate
Manager — Legal and the Executive Head of Finance, be authorised to enter
into the necessary funding agreement with the LTA to facilitate the grant award;

Page 5



(ii)

(c) the appointment of an operator to run the booking system, administration of
the parks’ tennis courts and an outreach programme, at no cost to the Council,
as set out in the Report, be approved;

(d) the Executive Head of Operations, in consultation with the Operational
Services Portfolio Holder, be authorised to research and implement an
appropriate charging structure for the use of the parks’ tennis courts,
considering the comments made during the meeting in relation to the level of
charges;

(e) the use of Section 106 funding to replace the fencing across all three sites,
as set out in the Report, be approved; and

RECOMMENDED TO THE COUNCIL that approval be given to the addition of
£216,500 into the Capital Programme for 2023/24, funded from a combination
of LTA grant and Section 106 contributions, as identified in paragraph 4.7 of
Report No. 0S2314.

Page 6



Reasons for the Call-In

Alignment to Council Plan

There is inadequate evidence that the agreed plan for changes to the 3 public tennis court
facilities is aligned to the Council Plan, in particular Priority 4 on page 10 of the Plan “we will
help encourage our residents to be fit, healthy and improve their wellbeing by increasing
participation and use of local leisure facilities, parks and open spaces”. Also page 8 of Your
Future Your Place, which sets out the vision of the Council, under Healthy and Green
Lifestyles states: “Everyone will have access to parks and green spaces, and to affordable
facilities so they can lead healthy and active lifestyles” and “People will enjoy good physical
health and mental well-being from childhood right through to their senior years”.

In addition, the financial models presented do not give confidence that the Council will not
have future unbudgeted maintenance demands.

Affordability and impact on low-income households

The consultation survey was not targeted at particular user groups or households that the
Council wishes to encourage participation from, for example the younger tennis players who
play for free to ascertain if they would still have access to the Tennis Courts should the
charge be introduced. From the users who did respond to the survey, there is inadequate
evidence that the agreed plan is affordable for residents considering:

e 39% of respondents thought there should be no charge

e 38% of respondents were prepared to pay £3-£5 per hour

e 9% of respondents were prepared to pay £5-£7 — the original recommendation to
the Cabinet

There was inadequate evidence or information on how the decision will affect the ability of
low-income households to access these facilities; the models presented suggested a very
low take-up rate for free or reduced rate annual passes of 42 across the whole borough, or
0.1% of households. If this rate was higher, the Council may not achieve its required return
to deliver a sinking fund for maintenance, resulting in long-term unbudgeted expenditure.

In delegating the decision on charging structure and operator selection to officers the
impact on participation across all residents was not clearly prioritised or targeted, and
scenarios with different levels of take-up and the impact on future Council expenditure
were not considered.

Information on potential providers and alternative options

The Cabinet did not give a clear plan of recommendations for the provider and did not know
what responsibilities the Council would have if a 3rd party provider was commissioned. This
must be agreed to ensure the Council is not responsible for the management of the gates
out of hours.

Rushmoor Council does not want to incur further costs, whilst profit is paid to a 3rd party

provider. Details of the provider must be considered before a decision is made.

Page 7



Transparency is vital to show clear decision making. The report to Cabinet did not show
alternative options for funding the refurbishment of the tennis courts.

We want to ensure all refurbishment options have been considered before removing a

much-used free service in this Borough and make recommendations to strengthen the offer
proposed by the Cabinet.

Page 8



CABINET

28t September 2023

REPORT NO. 0S2314

KEY DECISION? YES

LAWN TENNIS ASSOCIATION (LTA) INVESTMENT INTO PUBLIC TENNIS

COURTS IN PARKS

SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS:

This report outlines the Lawn Tennis Association (LTA) programme of
investment into public tennis courts in parks. It further makes recommendations
to Cabinet to enter into an agreement with the LTA who would then fund
renovation works to the value of £114,043, across three of the Council’s tennis
court sites.

Cabinet is recommended to:

Approve the LTA investment to renovate tennis courts at Manor Park,
Cove Green Recreation Ground & Rectory Road Recreation Ground in
accordance with their investment into public tennis courts in parks
scheme.

Delegate authority to the Executive Head of Operations in consultation
with the Corporate Legal Manager and the Executive Head of Finance
to enter into the necessary funding agreement with the LTA to facilitate
the grant award.

Appoint an operator to run the bookings system, administration of the
parks tennis courts & an outreach programme at no cost to the Council.
Introduce a charging structure for use of the parks tennis courts as
detailed in Appendix A

Approve the use of Section 106 funding to replace the fencing across
all 3 sites, as detailed in the report below.

Recommend to Council the addition of £216,500 into the Capital
Programme for 2023/24 funded from a combination of LTA grant and
Section 106 Contributions as identified in paragraph 4.7.

1.

1.1

INTRODUCTION

A recent announcement by the Government Department for Culture Media
and Sport (DCMS) has provided the LTA with a £22 million to invest into

Page 9

COUNCILLOR MAURICE SHEEHAN
OPERATIONAL SERVICES
PORTFOLIO HOLDER




public tennis courts in parks. This will be further topped up with LTA funds
to provide c£30million to invest into public tennis courts in parks.

1.2. The LTA are prioritising investment into authorities with an existing stock of
courts where some / all are in the poorest condition. Rushmoor has been
identified as an authority that falls into this category.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1. Rushmoor has widely well-balanced distribution of tennis facilities, with the
opportunities to play indoor (and outdoors) at the tennis centre, join
members tennis clubs at Farnborough and Eggars Hill or play in one of three
sets of parks courts at Cove Green (3 courts), Manor Park (3 courts) and
Rectory Road Recreation Ground (2 courts). The widest challenge across
Rushmoor for players is the courts in the parks. Cove Green is in very poor
condition and Manor Park and Rectory Road are in average — poor
condition. According to LTA research, the absence of the ability to book and
courts being in poor condition are two of the greatest barriers to play.

2.2. Open unmanaged courts such as those in Rushmoor represent a large
barrier to park users; they create several ‘fears’ amongst prospective
players. For example — will | get to court and have to wait? How long can |
play for? Will I have to ask someone to leave? The proposal includes the
installation of new access gates fully funded by the LTA which include
controlled access locks. Access would be given to anyone who books a
court via a code which when entered into the lock, providing access to the
court.

2.3. The LTA have undertaken technical assessments of Rushmoor’'s 3 park
tennis sites to fully understand the costs of works required to bring them
back to a safe, quality, playable standard. The headline findings of these
surveys are detailed below. The LTA have offered to fund the improvements
to the courts across all 3 sites, totalling £114,043. The Council will need to
sign up to a set of terms & conditions, one of which will be to put in place a
managed, affordably charged model (with aspects of free tennis). The
overriding purpose of the proposed charging model is to create a sinking
fund for future maintenance.

3. DETAILS OF THE PROPOSAL
General

3.1. Cove Green is in a poor state, the worst condition of the Council’s 3 park
sites. The LTA’s proposal is for a complete resurfacing of all 3 courts. There
is 25m2 of root ingress from a tree therefore this area would need complete
reconstruction. The LTA propose one controlled access gate to the courts
with hirers using the internal gates to access each of the 3 courts. New nets
for all 3 courts would be included. Contingency to facilitate an access plan
for vehicles carrying materials to undertake the works has been included.
Total cost circa £61,628 excluding VAT, to be funded in full by the LTA.

Page 10



3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

4.1.

4.2.

The courts at Manor Park are in fair condition hence the LTA’s proposal is
to repair some cracking to the surface, add a binder layer to hold the surface
together and to repaint, rather than a complete resurface. There would be
one controlled access gate to the courts. Total cost circa £14,552 excluding
VAT, to be funded in full by the LTA.

The courts at Rectory Road would be resurfaced. 31m of fencing would be
replaced as would the pedestrian gate used to access the courts. There
would be one controlled access gate to the courts. Contingency to facilitate
an access plan for vehicles carrying materials to undertake the works has
been included. Total cost circa £37,863 excluding VAT, to be funded in full
by the LTA.

The LTA funded proposal includes the replacement of some of the fencing
surrounding the courts at Rectory Road, not all of it. The LTA funded
proposal does not include the replacement of any fencing at Manor Park or
at Cove Green. Should the Cabinet resolve to enter into an agreement with
the LTA to accept the investment to improve the courts, it is proposed that
the Council use Section 106 funds to replace the fencing at all 3 sites with
new. The cost to upgrade the fencing, which would be paid for using Section
106 funds, is detailed below:

Site Weld Mesh Fencing
(£)

Cove Green 52,853.43

Manor Park 31,961.58

Rectory Road 17,644.25

Using Section 106 funding to replace the fencing at the 3 sites would use up
the majority of Section 106 funding earmarked for improvements to the
tennis courts hence no more Section 106 funding would be available for
other improvements in the short-medium term. Further funds would only be
available when more permitted development takes place, providing Section
106 funding, or should the Council enter into an agreement with the LTA
and subsequently generate sinking funds.

IMPLICATIONS (of proposed course of action)
Financial sustainability / Sinking funds Implications

To ensure the ongoing maintenance of the courts, it is proposed that the
appointed operator creates a “sinking fund” from fees received for use of the
courts, at no cost to the Council. Sinking funds will be transferred to the
Council to enable future maintenance of the courts.

Investment into the Council’s parks tennis courts is currently funded via
Section 106 income. This is problematic as Section 106 funding is available
only when developers’ build housing within the locality upon which the parks
tennis courts are sited. Investment is therefore unevenly distributed across
the borough, and it is difficult to maintain the courts to the level we would
like, under the current system.

Page 11



4.3.

4.4,

4.5.

4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

4.9.

4.10.

4.11.

The DCMS and LTA investment programme aims to ensure courts are
financially sustainable post capital investment. With precedents from other
projects the proposed pricing model enables a solution to the financial
sustainability of the tennis courts considering access for those on the lowest
incomes.

Sales of household memberships (£36 per household per annum)

Sales of one off Pay and Play (e.g. £6 per court per hour)

Any rent from a coaching provider using courts for teaching lessons
Concessions / Free passes for those in low income (through clear criteria)
Offer of some free coaching through products, programmes, and initiatives

The aim of generating income is to build up funds that, over time, create a
fund to pay for future repainting and resurfacing.

The recommended amount to be put aside per court per year for future
refurbishment is in the region of £1,400 per court. There are some expenses
to maintain the access control system — c£400 per gate per year which are
factored into the income and expenditure modelling. The courts would also
be required to be registered with the LTA and some safeguarding
procedures in place.

The model in essence can sustain itself, whilst using any surpluses to
reinvest in the facility or other initiatives. An important factor is that any
operator must be able to provide some free tennis at the parks courts. The
main factor of success is the decision on who ‘operates’ the model and the
work they do to market, promote, and deliver tennis on the courts.

The Capital cost of the improvements and the fencing works amount to a
total of £216,500. This will be funded from LTA grant of £114,043 and from
earmarked S106 contributions of £102,457.

Future Operation

The bookings system needs to be managed & operated. Having considered
current capacity internally at the Council, it is recommended Cabinet
approve the appointment of a 3rd party to operate & administer the parks
tennis courts at all 3 sites.

This model would enable an expert tennis organisation to provide
opportunities for residents throughout the year and therefore increase
participation in the sport, whilst also removing the need for the Council to
manage the system.

Should Cabinet approve this 3rd party model, a soft market test will take
place to gauge interest in advance of inviting expressions of interest from a
range of suitable organisations.

Should Cabinet approve this 3™ party model, a service level agreement or
contract would be set up between the Council & the 3" party to ensure the

Page 12



4.12.

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

5.8.

5.9.

relevant terms & conditions set out in the agreement with the LTA and the
required sinking fund (minimum of £1,400 per court) are met by the operator.

The agreement and performance of the operator would be subject to regular
monitoring by the Council.

CONSULTATION

A public consultation to invite feedback on the proposals detailed previously
took place via an online survey from 21st August to the 17th September
2023.

The consultation was completed by 384 respondents, 56% of whom use the
tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks (195 respondents).

Of the 195 respondents who use the tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks,
42% indicated that they would use them more if they were improved (81
respondents) and 51% indicated they would play the same amount of tennis
on the courts (99 respondents).

Of the 195 respondents who use the tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks,
17% indicated that they would play more tennis if an online booking system
was introduced (34 respondents), 29% indicated they would play the same
amount of tennis on the parks courts (56 respondents) and 43% indicated
they would use the courts less (84 respondents).

Of the 195 respondents who use the tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks, the
top 3 factors that would motivate them to play more tennis in the parks were
better court facilities (45% - 71 respondents), free access to tennis (40% -
63% respondents) and the ability to book in advance (37% - 58 respondents)

Of the 384 respondents who completed the consultation, 61% were in favour
of the LTA investment to improve the courts and for an external operator to
run the courts on the Council’s behalf and understood this would mean
charges for tennis court users and a booking system (209 respondents).

Of the 384 respondents who completed the consultation, 22.3% did not want
the Council to pursue the grant to renovate the tennis courts and understood
this will mean they will not be renovated as other funding sources have not
been identified (76 respondents).

Of the 324 respondents who completed the question regarding what the hire
price should be if the Council proceeds with the investment, 39% felt there
should not be a charge (125 respondents), 38% felt the charge should be
£3-5 per hour (123 respondents) and 9% felt the charge should be £5-7 per
hour (30 respondents).

The full report which provides the outcomes from the consultation is
attached as Appendix B.

Page 13



6. CONCLUSIONS

6.1. Given the limited funds available for parks tennis courts via S106
contributions, the LTA investment programme provides an opportunity for to
bring courts up to a good standard. The operating model that is proposed
will allow for a sinking fund to safeguard courts into the future.

6.2. Cabinet is asked to approve the recommendations in this report, which will
enable the Council to receive significant investment from the Lawn Tennis
Association to improve the condition of our parks tennis courts, to increase
usage of the facilities & participation in the sport across the borough and to
enable more opportunity for community outreach programmes to be
provided by tennis experts for the residents of Rushmoor.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:
None

CONTACT DETAILS:

Report Author — Laura Smith — Project Officer
Head of Service — James Duggin — Executive Head of Operations

Page 14



GT abed

Model 1 - Example £36 per household per annum, £6 Pay and Play, No free Passes

APPENDIX A

Anticipated Unique Users Annual Pass Modelled to 0% Free Passes to |Income Generated from Income from Pay by hour Play |Sinking Fund (Put aside for CO.StS to Operator (Gate Surplus above sinking fund
) . . R Pay and Play Cost . ) Maintenance Fee, payment
(Source:LTA Modelling) Cost sell low Income ‘Annual Passes Court Bookings £6 per hour. future resurfacing each year) . expenses
transaction fees)
Rectory Road 1567 £36 150 0 £5,400 £6 £1,261 £2,400 £661 £3,600
Recreation Ground
MANOR PARK 1338 £36 128 0 £4,608 £6 £1,892 £3,600 £691 £2,209
Cove Green 1401 £36 134 0 £4,824 £6 £1,892 £3,600 £695 £2,421
Recreation Ground
Totals across Rushmoor 412 £14,832 £5,045 £9,600 £2,047 £8,230

Totals across Rushmoor

£13,320

£5,045

£9,600

£2,047

£6,718

Totals across Rushmoor

£13,992

£5,045

£9,600

£2,047

£7,390

Model 4 - Example £20 per household per annum, £5 Pay and Play, 0% of Passes Free

Costs to Operator (Gate

Anticipated Unique Users Annual Pass Modelled to 10% Free Passes to [Income Generated from Income from Pay by hour Play  |Sinking Fund (Put aside for ) Surplus above sinking fund
. ) ; . s Pay and Play Cost . ; Maintenance Fee, payment
(Source:LTA Modelling) Cost sell low income groups |‘Annual Passes Court Bookings £6 per hour. future resurfacing each year) ) expenses
transaction fees)
Rectory Road 1567 £20 150 0 £3,000 £5 £1,050 £2,400 £661 £989
Recreation Ground
MANOR PARK 1338 £20 128 0 £2,560 £5 £1,575 £3,600 £691 -£156
Cove Green 1401 £20 134 0 £2,680 £5 £1,575 £3,600 £695 -£40
Recreation Ground
Totals across Rushmoor 412 £8,240 £4,200 £9,600 £2,047 £793

Model 5 - Example £25 per household per annum, £5 Pay and Play, 10% of Passes Free

Costs to Operator (Gate

Anticipated Unique Users Annual Pass Modelled to 10% Free Passes to [Income Generated from Income from Pay by hour Play |Sinking Fund (Put aside for ) Surplus above sinking fund
) ; . s Pay and Play Cost . ; Maintenance Fee, payment
(Source:LTA Modelling) Cost sell low income groups [‘Annual Passes Court Bookings £5 per hour. future resurfacing each year) - expenses
transaction fees)
Rectory Road 1567 £36 150 15 £4,860 £5 £1,050 £2,400 £661 £2,849
Recreation Ground
MANOR PARK 1338 £36 128 13 £4,140 £5 £1,575 £3,600 £691 £1,424
Cove Green 1401 £36 134 14 £4,320 £5 £1,575 £3,600 £695 £1,600
Recreation Ground
Totals in City Wide Project 412 £13,320 £4,200 £9,600 £2,047 £5,873




Page 16



APPENDIX B

Tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks —
please give us your views

Draft report

September 2023

Consultation report by Risk, Performance and Procurement

Page 17



Contents

Purpose of the consultation
Method

Response rate
Respondents

Summary

Consultation results

Appendix A — copy of the online survey

Appendix B — copy of the poster

Page 18

Page

19

26



Purpose of the consultation
Rushmoor Borough Council has eight free to use public tennis courts in three public parks:

e Cove Green recreation ground, Farnborough
e Rectory Road recreation ground, Farnborough
e Manor Park, Aldershot

Five of these courts are in a poor condition and three are in an average condition. There is
an opportunity to apply for funding for the refurbishment of the courts to a high standard
from the Government’s Department for Digital, Community, Media and Sport (DCMS) and
the Lawn Tennis Association (LTA). If funding for the tennis courts was successful there
would be a charge for usage and a booking system, this would help with the future upkeep
of the tennis courts.

The consultation asks residents and users of the tennis courts if they agree with the Council
in applying for the funding. It also asked users how the possible changes would effects their
usage and asks non-users what would encourage them to use the tennis courts.

Method

The survey was designed as an online survey (annex A) which was advertised through the
Councils social media and emailed to those who have signed up to receive Council
consultations via email. In addition, posters (appendix B) were put up in the tennis courts in
Rushmoor’s parks.

The survey ran for four weeks from 21 August 2023 until the 17 September 2023.

Response rate

In total 384 respondents completed the online survey.

Page 19



Respondents

Have you completed this survey as a group, or on behalf of a group?

In total 313 respondents completed this question. The vast majority of respondents (93.9% -
294 respondents) indicated that they were completing the survey as individuals. 6.1% (19
respondents) indicated that they were completing the survey as a group, or on behalf of a
group. Nine of these were on behalf of family or friends, the other responses were:

e On behalf of a group

e Girlguiding

e | work for alocal youth charity

e Sunday morning free session coaching at Manor Park

e Club

e FLTC

e With fellow tennis players.

e Aldershot tennis 10 -12 Sunday

e No, but our tennis group used to play with us. We currently play with them in Church
Crookham.

o |
Which town do you live in?

In total 317 respondents complete this question. 55.2% (175) of respondent lived in
Farnborough and 39.4% (125) of respondents lived in Aldershot. 5.4% (17 respondents)
indicated that they lived other than Aldershot or Farnborough. According to the 2021
Census, 59.9% of Rushmoor residents lived in Farnborough and 40.2% lived in Aldershot,
this suggests Farnborough respondents are slightly underrepresented.

Which town do you live in?

60.0 55.2
50.0
39.4

g 40.0

30.0

20.0

10.0 5.4

00 [
Aldershot Farnborough Other

Of the 17 respondents that indicated ‘other’ (all those mentioned more than once):

e Four respondents indicated that lived in Fleet
e Three respondents indicated that lived in Ash/Ash Vale

4
Page 20



e Three respondents indicated that lived Frimley
e Two respondents indicated that lived in Farnham
e Two respondents indicated that lived in Camberley

What is your age group?

In total 317 respondents complete this question. In comparison to age data (16 years plus)
from the 2021 Census, younger people are slightly under resented and those 45-64 years of
age are slightly over represented.

What is your age group?

45.0
38.4 39.9
345
35.0 31.0

30.0

40.0

25.0
%
19.0 18.7
20.0
15.0 11.9
10.0

4.1
5.0 1.9

0.6
00 [ —

Under 16 years*® 16-24 years 25-44 years 45-64 years 65+ years I'd prefer not to say

H All respondents 2021 Census

Page 21



Summary

The purpose of the consultation was to seek views on applying for funding to upgrade the
tennis courts in three of Rushmoor’s parks. If funding for the tennis courts was successful
there would be a charge for usage and a booking system.

Overall, 61.3% of respondents were in favour of the investment, with 22.3% not being in
favour (16.4% didn’t know). The users of the tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks were also in
favour but this was a lower percentage 52.9%. However, more users of Manor Park tennis
courts were not in favour of the investment with 44.6% indicating no, compared to 31.3%
indicating yes (24.1% didn’t know).

55.5% of respondents use the tennis courts in Rushmoor parks and 75.4% of these
respondents had used the tennis courts in the past week or in the past month. Of users the
most popular courts are in Manor Park (43.1% used these courts the most). The three most
popular times to play tennis was weekend mornings, followed by weekends afternoons,
then followed by weekdays evenings.

50.8% of the users of tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks indicated that they would use the
tennis courts more often if they were improved, 41.5% indicated that they would use the
courts the same amount and only 4.1% indicated that they would use the tennis courts less
often (3.6% were not sure).

If a booking system was introduced 43.1% of user indicated that they would play less tennis,
28.7% indicated that they would play the same amount and 17.4% indicated that they
would play more (10.8% were not sure).

Respondent thought there shouldn’t be a charge for use of the tennis courts or the charge
should be a low as possible (£3-5 per hour). Users of the tennis courts were more in favour
for there not being a charge, than non-users.

The top three factors that would encourage non-user to start using the tennis court were
better court facilities (45.2%), followed by free access to tennis (40.1%) and then followed
by the ability to book in advance (36.9%).

A higher percentage of respondents thought children under 18 were the group respondents
thought should be offered a discounted court hire and free coach led sessions. Also, a
higher percentage wanted to see youth sessions.

Page 22



Consultation results

Question 1: Where is your nearest park area with tennis courts?

In total 383 respondents complete this question. The Manor Park courts were the nearest
tennis courts for 151 respondents (39.4%), Cove Green Recreation Ground were the nearest
tennis courts for 139 respondents (36.3%) and Rectory Road Recreation Ground were the
nearest tennis courts for 83 respondents (21.7%).

Where is your nearest park area with tennis courts?
45.0

394
400 36.3
350
30.0
% 25.0 217
200
15.0
100
50 26
0.0 [ ]
Manor Park, Aldershot Cowe Green Recreation Rectory Road Recreaion Mot sure
Ground, Farnborough Ground, Farnborough

Question 2: Do you currently use the tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks?

In total 383 respondents complete this question. The majority of respondents (55.5% - 213
respondents) indicated that they currently use the tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks.

Do you currently use the tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks?
60.0 55.5
50.0
40.0
%
30.0

20.0

0.0
Yes No

These questions were for those who answered yes to question 2

Question 3: Which park do you use most to play tennis?

In total 195 respondents completed this question. The courts in Manor Park were the tennis
courts used the most (43.1% - 84 respondents), followed by the courts in Cove Green
Recreation Ground (37.4% - 73 respondents), then followed by the courts in Rectory Road
Recreation Ground (19.5% - 38 respondents).

Page 23



Which park do you use most to play tennis?
50.0

45.0 43.1
40.0 37.4
35.0
30.0
25.0
20.0
15.0
10.0
50

0.0
Manor Park, Aldershot Cove Green Recreation Ground, Rectory Road Recreation Ground,
Farnborough Farnborough

Question 4: Who do you normally play tennis with?

In total 194 respondents completed this question. 75.3% (146 respondents) play tennis with
family, 51.0% (99 respondents) play tennis with friends and 9.8% (19 respondents) indicated
that they play tennis with ‘other’.

Who do you normally play tennis with?

80.0 75.3
70.0
60.0
51.0
50.0
%
40.0
30.0
20.0
9.8
0.0
Friends Family Other

Of the 19 respondents that indicated that they play tennis with ‘other’, the main themes of
the comments were (all those mentioned more than once):

e Eight respondents indicated that they play with Tennis of Free sessions / Sunday
tennis

e Five respondents indicated that they play with a club

e Two respondents indicated that they play with partner

e Two respondents indicated that they used the court or other purposes (walking and
inline skating).

Page 24



Question 5: When did you last play tennis at a Rushmoor park?

In total 195 respondents completed this question. 39.0% (76 respondents) played tennis in
the past week, 36.4% (71 respondents) played tennis in the past month and 24.6% (48
respondents) played tennis in the past year.

When did you last play tennis at a Rushmoor park?
45.0

39.0
40.0 36.4
35.0

30.0

24.6

% 25.0
20.0
15.0
10.0

5.0

0.0
Within the last week Within the last month Within the last year

Question 6: When do you normally play tennis in a Rushmoor park?

In total 195 respondents completed this question. The three most popular times
respondents played tennis was weekend mornings (50.8% - 99 respondents), followed by
weekends afternoons (45.6% - 89 respondents), then followed by weekdays evenings
(44.1% - 86 respondents).

When do you normally play tennis in a Rushmoor park?

60.0
50.8
50.0
441 45.6
40.0
%
30.0
24.6 226

20.0 14.9
100 I 46

00 I

Weekdays— Weekdays — Weekdays — Weekends— Weekends — Weekends— Other
mornings afternoons evenings mornings afternoons evenings

Of the nine respondents that indicated ‘other’ the main theme of responses was school
holidays (mentioned in around five comments).

Question 7: If the condition of all the tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks was
improved, would you use them:

Page 25



In total 195 respondents completed this question. 41.5% (81 respondents) indicated that
they would play more tennis if the courts were improved, 50.8% (99 respondents) indicated
that they would play the same amount of tennis, 4.1% (8 respondents) indicated that they
would play less tennis and 3.6% (7 respondents) indicated that they didn’t know,

If the condition of all the tennis courts in Rushmoor’s parks was improved, would you use them
60.0

50.8
50.0
41.5
40.0

%
30.0

20.0

10.0 a1 36

00 . [

About the same More often Less often Not sure

Question 8: Do you think an online booking system would help you to play more /
less tennis?

In total 195 respondents completed this question. 17.4% (34 respondents) indicated that
they would play more tennis if there was an online booking system, 28.8% (56 respondents)
indicated that they would play the same amount of tennis, 43.1% (84 respondents)
indicated that they would play less tennis and 10.8% (21 respondents) indicated that they
didn’t know.

Do you think an online booking system would help you to play more / less tennis?
50.0
45.0
40.0
35.0
30.0
% 25.0
20.0 17.4
15.0 10.8
10.0
—
0.0

I would play more tennis I would play about the I would play less tennis Not sure
same

43.1

28.7

This question was for those who answered no to question 2

Question 9: What if anything would motivate to play tennis in our parks?

10
Page 26



In total 195 respondents completed this question. The top three factors that would
motivate respondent to play tennis are better court facilities (45.2% - 71 respondents),
followed by free access to tennis (40.1% - 63 respondents) and then followed by the ability
to book in advance (36.9% - 58 respondents).

What if anything would motivate to play tennis in our parks?
Better court facilities _ 45.2
Free access to tennis ||| NN /0!
Ability to book in advance _ 36.9
Available when 1 want to play || N N SR ::-
Someone to play with _ 23.6
Nothing, I am notinterested in playing tennis || N RNNENERNEIE 175
Coaching _ 16.6
Access to equipment [ NRNII 134
other NG 115

0.0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500
%

These questions were for all respondents

Question 10: Which of these statements do you agree with?

In total 341 respondents completed this question. Overall, the majority of respondents
(61.3%— 209 respondents) were in favour of the investment to improve the courts and for
an external operator to run the courts on the council’s behalf and understood this will mean
charges for tennis court users and a booking system. 22.3% (76 respondents) did not want
the council to pursue the grant to renovate the tennis courts and understood this will mean
they will not be renovated as other funding sources have not been identified. 16.4% (56
respondents) didn’t know.

11
Page 27



Which of these statements do you agree with?

70.0
61.3
60.0
50.0
%
40.0
30.0
223
20.0 16.4
0.0
Yes, | amin favour of the investmentto  No, | do not want the council to pursue the I don't know
improve the courts and for an external grant to renovate the tennis courts. |
operator to run the courts on understand this will mean
the council’s behalf. | understand this will they will not be renovated as other funding
mean charges for tennis court usersanda sources have not been identified.

booking system.

However, there is difference in the results by users of the the tennis courts and non- users
of the tennis courts. A higher percentage of non-users are in favour (72.0% - 108
respondents), than the users of the tennis courts (52.9% - 101 respondents).

There is also a difference between the views of tennis court users in the three parks, the
majority of users of Cove Green Recreation Ground tennis courts (66.2% - 47 respondents)
and users Rectory Road Recreation Ground tennis courts™ (75.7% - 28 respondents) are in
favour of the investment. Whereas only 31.3% (26 respondents) of users of Manor Park
tennis courts are in favour of the investment and 44.6% (37 respondents) are not in favour
of the investment.

Which of these statements do you agree with, by users and non-users of the tennis courts

75.7
80.0 72.0
70.0 66.2
60.0 52.9
50.0 44.6
%
40.0 0.8 313
30.0 241 239
20.0 17.3 177 153 16.2
. [l H .
0.0
Users of the tennis courts Non-users of the tenis courts Users of Manor Park tennis Users of Cove Green Users of Rectory Road
courts Recreation Ground tennis  Recreation Ground tennis
courts courts*

B Yes, | am in favour of the investment to improve the courts and for an external operator to runthe courts on
the council’s behalf. | understand this will mean charges for tennis court users and a booking system.
No, | do not want the council to pursue the grant to renovate the tennis courts. | understand this will mean
they will not be renovated as other funding sources have not been identified.

m 1 don't know

*very small sample size (37 respondents who were users of the Rectory Road Recreation Ground
tennis courts)

Those in the older age groups and those from Farnborough were more likely to be in favour
of the investment.

12
Page 28



Which of these statements do you agree with, by town and age

80.0 75.4
200 67.7
60.0 57.3
50.0 a8
D/D
40.0 34.4
29.0
30.0
200 77 20.8
- 13.7 - 137 oo
B ] ]
0.0

Under 45 Over 45 Aldershot respondents Famborough respondents

B Yes, | am in favour of the investment to improve the courts and for an external operator to run the courts on
the council’s behalf. | understand this will mean charges for tennis court users and a booking system.
No, I do not want the council to pursue the grant to renovate the tennis courts. | understand this will mean
they will not be renovated as other funding sources have not been identified.

® | don't know

Question 11: If the council proceeds with the investment, what do you think the
price for the hire of a tennis court in Rushmoor should be?

In total 324 respondents completed this question. Overall, 38.6% (125 respondents) didn’t
think there should a charge, closely followed by 38.0% (123 respondents) thought the
charge should be £3-5 per hour.

If the council proceeds with the investment, what do you think the price for the hire of a tennis
court in Rushmoor should be?
45.0
400 38.0 38.6
35.0
30.0
% 25.0
20.0
15.0
10.0 %3 7.7

3.7
5.0 . 1.9 0.9 .
i -_— =

£3-5 per hour £5-7perhour  £7-10 per hour £10-12 per hour |don’t think there This wouldn’t be Other
should be any  of interest to me
charge

25 respondents (7.7%) indicated ‘other’ and the main themes of the responses were (all
those mention more than once):

e £1-2 per hour (mentioned in around seven comments)

e Should be keep free/free access (mentioned in around four comments)

e £3-5 per hour but less for some / more for others (mentioned in around four
comments)

13
Page 29



Just over half of the users of the tennis courts (50.5% - 93 respondents) didn’t’ think there
should be a charge, compared to only 22.9% of non-users of the tennis courts (32
respondents). The charge with the highest percentage for both groups was £3-5 per hour.

If the council proceeds with the investment, what do you think the price for the hire of a tennis
court in Rushmoor should be, by users of the tennis courts and non-users of the tennis courts

60.0
50.5
50.0
42.9
40.0
34.2
30.0
% 22.9
20.0
12.1
10.0 7.1 7.9 76 7.9
4.3 21
om0 <0 W
0.0 |
£3-5perhour £5-7 per hour £7-10 per hour £10-12 perhour  Idon’t think there This wouldn’tbe of Other
should be any interest to me
charge

Users of the tennis courts m Non-users of the tenis courts

Question 12: If there was an ‘Annual Pass’ available for a household to play all year
round for a set fee (with no further charges) what do you think the price should be?

In total 324 respondents completed this question. Overall, 30.4% (98 respondents) didn’t
think there should a charge, followed by 18.9% (61 respondents) thought the charge should
be £15-£25 for an annual pass.

If there was an ‘Annual Pass’ available for a household to play all year round for a set fee (with no
further charges) what do you think the price should be?

35.0
30.4
30.0
25.0
18.9
20.0
% 15.5
15.0 11.2 11.5
100 6.2 6.2
0.0
£15-£25 £25-£35 £35-£45 £45-£55 I don’t think there This wouldn’tbe of Other
should be any interest to me
charge

20 respondents (6.2%) indicated ‘other’ and the main themes of the responses were (all
those mention more than once):

e Should be keep free/free access (mentioned in around five comments)
e Numbers over £50 for an annual pass (mentioned in around four comments)

14
Page 30



There is a difference between the users and the non-users of the tennis courts with 41.0%
(75 respondents) of users indicating that they don’t think there should be a charge,
compared to 16.5% (23 respondents) on non-users.

If there was an ‘Annual Pass’ available for a household to play all year round for a set fee (with no
further charges) what do you think the price should be?

45.0 41.0
40.0
35.0
30.0
%
25.0 150 201
200 ’ 175 15.8 15.8 16.5
15.0 12.9
100 7.7 2.2 9.4 9.4
3.8 3.8
5.0
0.0
£15-£25 £25-£35 £35-£45 £45-£55 I don’t think there This wouldn’t be of Other
should be any interest to me
charge

Users of the tennis courts m Non-users of the tenis courts

Question 13: If the council proceeds with the investment, which of the below groups
do you think should be offered discounted court hire?

In total 307 respondents completed this question. The majority of respondents thought
there should be discounted court hire for children under 18 years of age (77.2% - 237
respondents), disabled people (56.4% - 173 respondents) and adults over 65 years of age
(54.4% - 167 respondents). 38.8% (119 respondents) thought there should be discounted
court hire for those on Universal Credit and 26.4% (81 respondents) thought there should
be discounted court hire for ‘other’.

If the council proceeds with the investment, which of the below groups do you think should be
offered discounted court hire?
90.0
80.0 77.2
70.0
60.0 544 56.4
50.0
%
40.0
30,0 26.4
20.0
10.0
0.0

Children under 18 years Adults over 65 years of Disabled people Residents claiming Other
of age age Universal Credit

15
Page 31



81 respondents (26.4%) indicated ‘other’ and the main themes of the responses were (all
those mention over five times):

e The courts should be free / remain free (mentioned in around 27 comments)
e Local residents (mentioned in around 8 comments)

e Everyone (mentioned in around 7 comments)

e None / no one (mentioned in around 6 comments)

e Everyone pay the same (mentioned in around 6 comments)

Question 14: If the council proceeds with the investment, would you be in favour of
some free coach led sessions targeted at specific groups?

In total 308 respondent completed this question. The group respondents though should
have free coach led session the most are children under 18 years of age (83.5% - 253
respondents indicated yes). The group respondents though should have free coach led
session the least were residents claiming Universal Credit (40.1% - 103 respondents
indicated no).

If the council proceeds with the investment, would you be in favour of some free coach led
sessions targeted at specific groups?
90.0
80.0
70.0

60.0

83.5
64.7
55.9

%

T o0 420 401

40.0

17.9
20.0 17.8 175 178
9.9
00 [ |

Children under 18 years of age Adults over 65 years of age Disabled people Residents claiming Universal Credit

W Yes No ™ Not sure

This question had an ‘other’ comment box and 41 respondents completed this part of the
guestion. The main themes of the responses were (all those mention over five times):

e It should remain free / keep free (mentioned in around 7 comments)
e Everyone (mentioned in around 7 comments)

Question 15: When do you think free coach led sessions should be held?

In total 302 respondents completed this question. The top three times respondents thought
free coach led sessions should be held, was on weekend mornings (57.3% - 173
respondents), followed by weekday evenings (39.1% - 118 respondents), then followed by
weekday mornings (36.8% - 111 respondents). 13.6% (41 respondent) indicated ‘other’.

16
Page 32



When do you think free coach led sessions should be held?

70.0
60.0 57.3
50.0
39.1
% 40.0 36.8 35.1

30.0 272 24.5
200 13.6

0.0

Weekdays— Weekdays— Weekdays— Weekends — Weekends — Weekends — Other
mornings afternoons evenings mornings afternoons evenings

This question had an ‘other’ comment box and 41 respondents completed this part of the
guestion. The main themes of the responses were (all those mention over five times):

e A mix/when those who are attending the sessions can (mentioned in around 9
comments)
e Disagree with free sessions (mentioned in around 6 comments)

Question 16: Are there specific types of sessions you would like to see?

In total 279 respondents completed this question. The top three specific session
respondents would like to see are youth (64.9% - 181 respondents), followed by adult
beginner (58.4% - 163 respondents), then followed by walking tennis (33.0% - 97
respondents). 10.8% (30 respondent) indicated ‘other’.

Are there specific types of sessions you would like to see?
vouth |,  64.9
Adult beginner | I, 584
Walking tennis I 33.0
Cardio tennis | 1.2
adultintermediate [ NN 0:
Adultadvanced [N 147
other I 108

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0
%

This question had an ‘other’ comment box and 30 respondents completed this part of the
guestion. The main themes of the responses were (all those mention more than once):

e Keep free / free access (mentioned in around 6 comments)

17
Page 33



e N/A (mentioned in around 2 comments)

e None (mentioned in around 2 comments)

e Youth intermediate (mentioned in around 2 comments)
e Not sure (mentioned in around 2 comments)

Question 17: Would you be in favour of competitive tennis opportunities with people
of a similar ability?

In total 310 respondents completed this question. 44.8% (139 respondents) answered yes
they would be in favour of competitive tennis opportunities with people of a similar ability,
27.7% (86 respondents) answered no and 27.4% (85 respondents) didn’t know.

Would you be in favour of competitive tennis opportunities with people of a similar ability?

50.0
44.8
45.0

40.0
35.0

30.0 27.7 27.4

%
25.0

20.0
15.0
10.0

5.0

0.0
Yes No Not sure

Question 18: Do you have any further comments about the tennis courts in
Rushmoor’s parks?

In total 136 respondents completed this question. The main themes of the responses were
(all those mention more than five times):

e Keep asitis/free and free access (mentioned in around 47 comments)

e The council should have maintained/should maintain the courts (mentioned in
around 18 comments)

e Support the proposals (mentioned in around 17 comments)

e This plan will deter players / be a barrier (mentioned in around 17 comments)

e Concerns about the external provider / privatisation of the courts (mentioned in
around 15 comments)

e Comments about the current state of the tennis courts (mentioned in around 11
comments)

e The courts are not just used for tennis (mentioned in around 10 comments)

e Concern about the impact on kids ability to use the courts (mentioned in around 7
comments)

e There should be more tennis courts (mentioned in around 5 comments)

18
Page 34



Appendix A —copy of the online survey

rts in Rushm s pa ase give us your vi

Introduction

Background to the consultation

We have eight public tennis courts across three parks in Aldershot and Farmborough. Five of these courts are in a
poor condition and three are in an average condition.

Thera is no booking system and there are no tennis coaching programmes available in two of the three parks.
The council does not have any way of communicating with players using the courts at this time.

The Government's Department for Digital, Community Media and Sport (DCMS) and the Lawn Tennis Association
(LTA) have announced a £30 million package to refurbish more than 4,500 public tennis courts in the UK.

As part of that, they have approached us and been working with us on a project to bring all the courts up to a high
standard. This work would cost more than £100,000.

This is a once-in-a-generation opportunity for the council to receive external investment for our public tennis
courts. We know from figures from the Lawn Tennis Association that there are between 1300 and 1700 residents
within a ten-minute drive of each park who would play tennis if they had the opportunity to do so.

If this goes ahead, we would renovate the tennis courts in spring 2024,

Condition of funding

A condition of this funding is that we would need to show how we would keep these courts in a good condition for
the future and avoid them deteriorating.

We would need to set aside £1,200 per court annually to pay for larger repairs such as replacing the courts’ surface
and repainting the courts when necessary. There would also be day-to-day maintenance and running costs.

It iz estimated that tha total costs for looking after our eight public courts would be around £10,000 a vear. This
amount would make sure the courts are kept to a good standard for years to come.

How we would run the courts

The council would seek a tennis provider to run the courts for us. This would intreduce a pay-to-play booking
system and coaching to generate the income needed to maintain the courts.

This model would include providing free and discounted tennis for those who could not afford to pay to make sure
that everyone could use the courts.

We balieve that bringing in an experienced opearator to run the courts on our behalf would be the most efficient way
to move forward and provide the best quality experience for players and the local community.

We would continue to own the courts and set conditions for the new operator to make sure everyone could have
access to the tennis facilities. This would include setting out what the operator must do and what would be a fair
charge. Under the conditions of the investment programme, the courts must remain as tennis courts for at least 15
yvears. The investment does not include floodlighting for any of the courts.

19
Page 35



Booking system

If the tennis court wera to be improved, we would bring in an online and app booking and payment system. There
would also be gate access control at the tennis courts, so that players could guarantee a court being available when
they book and that the courts were not being misused in any way.

Charges

At the moment, we charge people to use our football and ericket pitches. This money halps maintain these pitches
for future use.

We would do the same with the tennis courts, with all the money received going to make sure the facilities are kept
to a high standard.

If we were to continue to operate the courls as now

We do not have a budget to repair or maintain our tennis courts, so if we do not go ahead with the investment
programme and keep them free, as now, they will continue to deteriorate, even if they are currently in a fair
condition.

The survey is open until Sunday 17 September.

To view our consultation survey privacy notice please visit www. rushmoor gov.uk/consultationprivacynotice

1. Where is your nearest park area with tennis courts? (please tick one)

Manor Park, Aldershot
Cove Green Recreation Ground, Farnborough
Rectory Road Recreation Ground, Farnborough

Mot sure
* 2. Do you currently use the tennis courts in Rushmoor's parks? (please tick one)

Yes

Mo

*if answered yes the survey went to question 3 and if answered no the survey went to question 9

20
Page 36



Tennis courts in Rushmoor's parks - please give us your views

Tennis court users

3. Which park do you use most to play tennis? (please tick one)

Manor Park, Aldershot
:_/ Cowve Green Recreation Ground, Farnborough

:_’_'_‘: Rectory Road Recreation Ground, Farnborough

4. Who do you normally play tennis with? (please tick all that apply)
[ ] Friends
|:[ Family

|:[ Other (please tell us)

5. When did you last play tennis at a Rushmoor park? (please tick one)
() Within the last week
() Within the last month

(") Within the last year

6. When do you normally play tennis in a Rushmoor park? (please tick all that apply)
[ | Weekdays - mornings
|:[ Weekdays - afternoons
|:[ Weekdays - evenings
|:[ Weekends - mornings
[ | Weekends - afternoons
|:[ Weekands - evenings

l:[ Other (please tell us)

7. If the condition of all the tennis courts in Rushmoor's parks was improved, would you use
them:

:_'_-_\: About the same

:;:_'/; More often
:\ Less often

() Not sure

21
Page 37



* 8. Do you think an online booking system would help you to play more / less tennis? (please
tick one)

() 1 would play more tennis

() 1 would play about the same

() 1would play less tennis

() Mot sure

*after this question was answered the survey went to question 10

Tennis courts in Rushmoor's parks - please give us your views

Not users of tennis courts in Rushmoor's parks

9. What if anything would motivate to play tennis in our parks? (please tick all that apply)
|:[ Better court facilities
|:[ Coaching
|:[ Someone to play with
|:[ Available when | want to play
[ ] Ability to book in advance
|:[ Free access to tennis
[ | Access to equipment
|:[ Nothing, 1 am not interested in playing tennis

|:[ Other (please tell us)

*after this question was answered the survey went to question 10

Tennis courts in Rushmoor's parks - please give us your views

*10. Which of these statements do you agree with? (please tick one)

") Yes, | am in favour of the investment to improve the courts and for an external operator to run the courts on
the council’'s behalf. I understand this will mean charges for tennis court users and a booking system.

g Mo, I do not want the council to pursue the grant to renovate the tennis courts. | understand this will mean
* they will not be renovated as other funding sources have not been identified.

g I don't know

22
Page 38



Tennis courts in Bushmoor's parks - please give us your views

If the council proceeds with the investment

11. If the council proceeds with the investment, what do you think the price for the hire of a
tennis court in Rushmoor should be? (please tick one)

() £3-5 per hour

: £5-7 per hour

() £7-10 per hour

() £10-12 per hour

() Idon't think there should be any charge
() This wouldn't be of interest to me

Other (please tell us)

12. If there was an ‘Annual Fass® available for a household to play all year round for a set fee
(with no further charges) what do you think the price should be? (please tick one)

() £15-€£25

: E25-£35

) £35-£45

) E45-E55

() 1don't think there should be any charge
() This wouldn't be of interest to me

:;_ | Other (please tell us)

13. If the council proceeds with the investment, which of the below groups do you think
should be offered discounted court hire? (please tick all that apply)

|:| Children under 18 years of age

|:| Adults over 65 years of age

|:| Disahled peaople

|:| Residents claiming Universal Credit

|:| Other (please tell us)

23
Page 39



14. If the council proceeds with the investment, would you be in favour of some free coach
led sessions targeted at specific groups? (please tick all that apply)

Yes No Mot sure
Children under 18 et — Ty
vears of age e st et
Adults ower 65 years — = S~
of age L o W
Disabled people 9 () )
Residents claiming - — e
Universal Credit et R L

Other (please tell us)y

15. When do you think free coach led sessions should be held?(please tick all that apply)
|:| Weekdays - mornings
D Weekdays - afternoons
[ ] Weekdays - evenings
|:| Weekends - mornings
|| weekends - afterncons
|:| Weekends - evenings

|:| Other (please tall us)

16. Are there specific types of sessions you would like to see? (please tick all that apply)
[ ] Youth
[ ] Adult beginner
[ ] Adult intermediate
[ ] Adult advanced
[ ] cardio tennis
[ | Walking tennis
|:| Other (please tall us)

17. Would you be in favour of competitive tennis opportunities with people of a similar
ability? (please tick one)

': ’ Yes

) No

7 Not sure

24
Page 40



18. Do you have any further comments about the tennis courts in Rusmoors parks? (please
tell us in the box below)

Ve us your vie

19. Have you completed this survey as a group, or on behalf of a group? (please tick one)
7 Mo

_—

(| Yes (please tell us in the box below)

* 20. Which town do you live in? (please tick one)
) Aldershot
() Farnborough

¢ Other (please tell us)

21. What is your age group? (please tick one)
' | Under 16 years

) 16-24 years

[ ) 25-44 years

() 45-64 years

| 654 years

* ) I'd prefer not to say

Thank you for completing our survey

We would like to keep you up-to-date with the latest council news and information about
events and activities taking place in Aldershot and Farnborough. You can also sign up to take
part in council consultations. To sign up please follow the link below:

Sign up to news from the council.

25
Page 41



Appendix B — copy of the poster

Parks tennis

sSurvey .

We would like your views

about the opportunity we have

to refurbish the public tennis courts

in our parks across Aldershot and Farnborough

—

www.rushmoor.gov.uk/tennissurvey

Closing date: Sunday 17 September

RUSHMOOR

BOROUGH COUNCIL

26
Page 42



APPENDIX C

“The Local Labour Group responds to “Rushmoor Borough Council’s consultation about the
tennis courts in Rushmoor Parks (Manor Park, Cove Green and Rectory Road)”.

The LTA funding being offered to Rushmoor Borough Council for the refurbishment of the
parks tennis courts in the borough is a combination of funds that the Department for Digital,
Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) and LTA are using to support the Government’s Get Active

Strategy.

Scott Lloyd, Chief Executive of LTA says “It’s great to see the Government’s commitment to
tackling inequalities in participation and ensure sport is inclusive and welcoming for all. This
aligns closely with the LTA’s own vision to open tennis up, ensuring tennis is a sport for
anyone, no matter their age, gender, background or ability.”

Whilst the local Labour Group welcome the opportunity and investment to improve the tennis
courts that the LTA funding offers, we do not agree with the resultant charging for use of the
courts that is being proposed. Implementing a charge for playing and introducing a booking
system is likely to discourage spontaneous use of the tennis courts and would discourage or
prevent groups from across our community actively engaging in sport, which contradicts the
LTA’s statement about “tackling inequalities in participation...ensuring sport is inclusive...
vision to open tennis up...”

Therefore, as a group we want to ook for different ways in which Rushmoor Parks tennis
courts could be upgraded, whilst maintaining free access and use for all. We believe that the
parks tennis courts should be available for all, just as the skatepark and basketball courts are.”

Look forward to catching up with you on Thursday.
Many thanks,

Becky

Becky Williams
Rushmoor Borough Councillor
Manor Park Ward

Page 43


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/get-active-a-strategy-for-the-future-of-sport-and-physical-activity#:~:text=Get%20Active%20is%20a%20call,which%20was%20published%20in%202015.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/get-active-a-strategy-for-the-future-of-sport-and-physical-activity#:~:text=Get%20Active%20is%20a%20call,which%20was%20published%20in%202015.

This page is intentionally left blank



G abed

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PLAN

The purpose of the work plan is to plan, manage and co-ordinate the ongoing activity and progress of the Council’s Overview and
Scrutiny Committee. It will be updated regularly and presented to each meeting of the Committee. It will include issues that are
currently being actioned as well as those that will be subject to future work.

The Committees Terms of Reference are as follows:

o to perform all overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council;

o to appoint such formal sub-committees and informal task and finish groups as it considers necessary to assist it in
discharging its functions;

o to prepare and approve the overview and scrutiny work programme so as to ensure that the Committee’s time is
effectively and efficiently utilised;

o to undertake investigations into such matters relating to the Council’s functions and powers as:
(1) may be referred by the Council, Committees, the Cabinet, or the Leader; or
(2) the Committee may consider appropriate; or
(3) have been referred to the Committee pursuant to the “call-in” procedure set out in the Overview and

Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. (These can be decisions taken by the Cabinet, a
Cabinet Member, key decisions taken by an officer or under joint arrangements).

o to monitor and review the performance of the Council and services against relevant performance indicators and adopted
plans;

Last Updated 01/11/2023

G 'ON N1l VANIDV



oy abed

o to review and/or scrutinise decisions proposed to be made (pre-decision scrutiny) or actions taken in connection with
the discharge of any of the Council’s functions;

o to review existing policy and strategy with a view to securing continuous improvement in the way in which the Council’s
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness;

. to make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the Cabinet in connection with the discharge of any
functions;

o to review and/or scrutinise any matter affecting the area or its inhabitants;

. to discuss initiatives put forward for consideration by individual members of the Committee and any relevant ‘call-for-

action’ in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution; and

o to consider petitions referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in accordance with provisions set out in the
Petition Scheme set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Last Updated 01/11/2023



/v abed

(A) ISSUES CURRENTLY BEING PROGRESSED BY THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE TASK AND FINISH

GROUPS

ISSUE (PURPOSE OF
REVIEW)

TASK AND
GROUP
(MEMBERSHIP 2022/23)

FINISH

CURRENT WORK

To monitor the
performance and
activities of Registered
Providers working in
the Borough.

Chairman of the
Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (ClIr Mike
Smith, Vice Chairmen of
the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee (Clirs
Diane Bedford and Keith
Dibble and Clirs Ade
Adeola, S.J Masterson
and Sophie Porter

The Annual Report for 2022/23 was presented at the June 2023
meeting.

A planning and review meeting was held on 6th September. The Group
agreed the terms of reference, and made some changes to the
standard questions asked, notably removing the questions around
COVID management, and adding questions around Mould
Management and Household energy efficiency ratings.

The Group agreed that the three providers to be reviewed this year’s
would be Vivid Homes, Defence Estates and A2 Dominion. The Group
also agreed to add a fourth provider to the review, Riverside Housing,
following reports of issues from tenants.

The first meeting with A2 Dominion would take place on 18 October,
2023.

To review the Council
Tax Support Scheme

Chairman of the
Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (ClIr Mike
Smith, Vice Chairman of
the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee (ClIr

The first meeting was held on 24" July at which options to review the
existing Council Tax Support scheme for 2024/25 were discussed by
the Group. Members asked Officers for further information and data to
be brought to the next meeting on 30th August, 2023 to assist in
making any recommendations for change.

Last Updated 01/11/2023




8t abed

ISSUE (PURPOSE OF
REVIEW)

TASK AND
GROUP
(MEMBERSHIP 2022/23)

FINISH

CURRENT WORK

Diane Bedford) and Clirs
Christine Guinness, S.J.
Masterson, M.J. Roberts
and S. Trussler,

At its meeting in August, 2023, the Group received updated information
about the recent performance of the CTS Scheme, implications of
reshaping the scheme to an income-based scheme rather than a
minimum contribution scheme. The Group also saw the implications of
improving the minimum contribution scheme for vulnerable

customers. The costs and benefits of the latter scheme are being
worked up for the next meeting. The Group also received a broader
presentation from Boom Local Community Bank (Credit Union) about
sustainable financial products which could form part of a package
measures to assist local residents.

Following the meeting on 26 September, 2023, the Group will be
presenting a report to Cabinet at its meeting on 17 October which will
recommend that Cabinet agree to consult on a change to the scheme
for 2024/25. The change relates to removing the 88% cap on the
maximum level of support that can be awarded to a working age
recipient of Council Tax Support.

The Cabinet AGREED the recommendations at it's meeting on 17
October.

To consider further the
economical and
environmental impacts
of Farnborough Airport

on the Borough.

Vice Chairman of the
Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (ClIr Diane
Bedford) and Gaynor
Austin, Jess Auton, Jules

Terms of Reference were review and agreed at the Progress Group
(4th July, 2023).

At the meeting on 11 September, 2023 the following actions were
agreed:

Last Updated 01/11/2023




ISSUE (PURPOSE OF
REVIEW)

TASK AND FINISH
GROUP
(MEMBERSHIP 2022/23)

CURRENT WORK

Crossley, Mara Makunura
and Calum Stewart

e Terms of reference to be revised. Amends to specify what is out

of scope.

e Key lines of enquiry to be developed i.e., what do Members
what to find out. Set these within a programme of work.

o Extend deadline of the report.

e Set up a shared space for relevant documents inc. FA Annual
Report.

(B) OTHER ISSUES CURRENTLY BEING PROGRESSED BY THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

ISSUE

CURRENT WORK

Corporate Customer
Contact Indicators

The work of the CSU would continue to be monitored and a meeting was scheduled for December
2023 to provide further feedback on the new CRM system.

Stagecoach

Stagecoach attended the meeting in July 2023 following a number of concerns and issues raised
with Members by residents. At the meeting a recommendation was made to hold a stakeholder
meeting to discuss some of these issues in more detail, in particular related to Aldershot services.

The Progress Group would scope a plan for the meeting when it met in early September.

Council Business Plan

61 abed

In July, the Committee received an update on the Council Business Plan. It was requested that
the list of items in the work plan be prioritised against the Council Plan and reported back on at
the Progress Group.

Q2 monitoring would be considered at the December 2023 meeting.

Last Updated 01/11/2023

5




0G abed

Support for the Local Armed
Forces Community and
British Gurkha Veterans

In September, the Committee carried out an assessment of ongoing issues and support needs
of our local Armed Forces Community, including welfare concerns raised via a Notice of Motion
to Council on 6 July, 2023, relating to British Gurkha Veterans.

As a result of the meeting, a number of recommendations would be made to the Cabinet.

At the Cabinet Meeting on 17 October, 2023, the Cabinet RESOLVED that the recommendations
from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, be approved, subject to any letter from the Council
in respect of these matters being signed jointly by the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet
Champion for the Armed Forces and the removal of any reference in the recommendations to
the ‘Shadow Armed Forces Champion’.

Community Safety and
Police

At the meeting on 21 September, the Community Safety Team and Hampshire Police were in
attendance to provide an update on current issue in the borough and respond to the Notice of
Motion on Youth Crime Prevention referred to the Committee for consideration.

Last Updated 01/11/2023




OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

WORKFLOW — June 2023- March 2024

DATE

ITEMS

15th June 2023

Corporate Customer Contact Indicators (Session 2)
Registered Providers T&F Annual Report

20th July 2023

Stagecoach
Council Business Plan (Session 1)

7th September 2023
(Special Meeting)

Gurkha Welfare Notice of Motion (Council - July
2023) — Support for the Local Armed Forces
Community and British Gurkha Veterans

21st September 2023

Policing and Community Safety to incorporate the
Notice of Motion on Youth Crime Prevention raised at
Council (April 2023)

9th November 2023

Arts and Culture (Cultural Compacts (Lee McQuade))
Climate Change Scorecards(Sophie Rogers/Rachel
Barker)

14th December 2023

Customer Service — Contact Indicators
Q2 Performance Monitoring
Charitable Support (RVS/CA)

8th February 2024

Climate Change Strategy
Asset Management — Update (TM)

27th March 2024

Health Services
Champion Reports

Potential Future
Items for Committee

Ward Grant — Review — winter 2023

Regeneration — Primarily All Member Seminars
Waste and Recycling

Telecommunications Infrastructure — IH met with
Toob and feedback would be shred with Members
County Councillors — Communications/Engagement
(in particular, Highways Issues) — requested suitable
date from then — October 2023

Last Updated 01/11/2023

Page 51




2S abed

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Progress Meetings 2023/24

Membership: Chairman (Clir Mike Smith), Vice Chairmen (ClIrs Diane Bedford and Keith Dibble) and Clirs Gaynor Austin,

S.J. Masterson and S. Trussler

DATE ITEM NOTES
3 April 2023 OSC Annual Report Agreed with some suggested additions
ég\r/]iﬁ\ll Cabinet Champions Going forward - hear from at PG throughout the year or regular written updates
Private landlords Scope option to have a private landlords T&F group similar to the RP Group
June Meeting Customer Contact Indicators and RP Annual Report
Info/Action follow up Produce a Work Tracker to monitor actions/requests for information at meetings
4 July 2023 Council Business Plan RB attended to give a summary of a proposed item for the meeting on 20t July on

Highways issues/HCC
Communications

the Council Business Plan performance monitoring.

Clir Abe Allen attended the meeting to raise an issue in Fernhill relating to Bunds
which had been installed in Chapel Lane. The Bunds had been installed as a
prevention measure by HCC but had caused concern amongst residents. It was
agreed that this issue would be raised at a proposed future meeting with County
Councillors regarding communication/engagement with the County Council.

Last Updated 01/11/2023




cg abed

Stagecoach

Farnborough Airport
T&F Group — ToR

Cabinet Champions
Priorities

Youth Crime Prevention

A number of issues had been raised regarding changes and performance levels with
local bus services. Contact had been made with Stagecoach who were available to
attend the meeting on 20" July, 2023.

The Terms of Reference were agreed at the meeting.

The priorities for 2023/24 for the Cabinet Champion were endorsed at the meeting.

Following the Notice of Motion to Council in April, 2023, it was agreed that the focus
of the September meeting with the Community Safety Team and the Police would be
on Youth Crime Prevention.

4 September
2023

Stagecoach

Council Plan

7 September

Action Tracker

Stakeholder meeting — Focus on safety of travelling on foot between Bus Hubs and
the Aldershot Railway Station to continue journey. Lack of a bus service to Aldershot
Railway Station. Bus links to Voyager House in Farnborough.

Future items had been priorities against the Council Plan and the Work Plan
amended accordingly.

Good to understand how many Gurkhas are affected by the issues raised. Purpose to
make recommendations to Cabinet on findings from the meeting.

Focus of discussion on young people and knife crime. Good to understand what is in
place to address prevent young people getting involved in criminal activities. Other
areas to cover — timescales for new police recruits, from joining the force to being on
the ground.

Understand the cost of Realtime Information Boards at bus stops and investigate
need in the Borough with Stagecoach.

Last Updated 01/11/2023




G abed

19 October
2023

Support for the Local
Armed Forces
Community and British
Gurkha Veterans

Police and Community
Safety

Arts and Cultural
(cultural Compacts)

Engagement with
County Councillors

Future Meetings

Farmborough Airport
T&F Group

The Group discussed the resolution on the Committee’s recommendations to the
Cabinet following their meeting on 17 October relating to this items. Following a
discussion, it was agreed that IH would write to the Leader expressing the
Committee’s disappointment at the removal of reference to the Shadow Champion
and request that the decision be reconsidered.

It was noted that an all Member Seminar was being arranged with the Police to
address areas of concern. It was hoped that the informal setting and private nature of
the seminar would result in more open dialogue with the police.

Lee McQuade was in attendance to scope an item on Arts and Culture. Members
requested: data on how the Arts Council identified Rushmoor as a priority place;
timeframes; key things to achieve and an update on what the Council is currently
doing and how it is advertised to the community

The Group were updated on the responses from the five County Councillors in reply
to the invite to attend a future meeting. It was suggested that a second letter be sent
asking them to identify some dates on which they all (the majority) would be available
to attend.

It was agreed that the meeting in November would have an item on the Climate
Change Scorecards alongside the Arts and Culture Item, and an update on the
Registered Providers Group meeting with A2 Dominion from the Members. December
would have an item on the Q2 Performance Monitoring and a request was made to
invite representatives from Frimley Park Hospital to the March, 2024 meeting.

It was noted that the revised Terms of Reference for the Group would be shared with
Members alongside the current list of items to be addressed at the Group going
forward. It was agreed that the Group would need extra time to carry out the work and
the timeframe would be adjusted accordingly.

Last Updated 01/11/2023

10




GG abed

27 Customer Contact MBQ/MT invited to attend the meeting prior to 14 December Committee
November Indicators — Update
2023
Q2 Performance RB would be invited to attend the meeting
Monitoring
18 January
2024
4 March
2024

Last Updated 01/11/2023

11




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	2 CALL-IN - LAWN TENNIS ASSOCIATION (LTA) INVESTMENT INTO PUBLIC TENNIS COURTS IN PARKS
	Reasons for Call-In - LTA Investment into public tennis courts in parks
	LTA investment into public tennis courts in parks - Report No. OS2314
	LTA investment into public tennis courts in parks - App A(v2).pdf
	Blank Page



	5 Work Plan

